Audited Financial Statements

Plymouth District Library

Year Ended December 31, 2024 with Report of Independent Auditors



Audited Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Contents

| Report of Independent Auditors | 1 |
|---|----|
| Management's Discussion and Analysis | 4 |
| Basic Financial Statements | |
| Statement of Net Position/General Fund Balance Sheet | 11 |
| Statement of Activities/General Fund Statement of | |
| Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance | 12 |
| Statement of Post-Employment Healthcare Plan Net Position – VEBA Trust | 13 |
| Statement of Changes in Post-Employment Healthcare Plan Net Position – VEBA Trust | |
| Notes to Financial Statements | |
| Required Supplementary Information | |
| Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund | 42 |
| MERS Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan: | |
| Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios | 43 |
| Schedule of Library Pension Contributions | |
| Other Post-Employment Healthcare Plan – VEBA Trust: | |
| Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios | 45 |
| Schedule of Library OPEB Contributions | |
| 201104011 01 210111 01 22 00111104010110 | |

ANDREWS HOOPER PAVLIK PLC



43252 WOODWARD AVENUE | SUITE 150 | BLOOMFIELD HILLS, MI 48302

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Trustees Plymouth District Library Plymouth, Michigan

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Plymouth District Library, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Plymouth District Library's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Plymouth District Library as of December 31, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Plymouth District Library and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Plymouth District Library's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Plymouth District Library's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Plymouth District Library's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund, and the schedules for the pension and other post-employment benefit plans, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of

financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Correction of Error

As described in Note 16 to the financial statements, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, were restated as a result of accounting errors identified by the Library related to overpayments of penal fines by Wayne County for the years spanning from 2014 to 2023. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.

andrews Looper Farlik PLC

Bloomfield Hills, Michigan June 10, 2025

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

As management of Plymouth District Library, we offer readers of Plymouth District Library's basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of Plymouth District Library for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Financial Highlights

- The assets of the Plymouth District Library exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by \$13,764,366 (net position). Of this amount, \$3,100,466 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.
- As of the close of the current fiscal year, Plymouth District Library's governmental fund reported an ending fund balance of \$3,939,059, an increase of \$199,523 in comparison with the restated prior year balance. Of the total fund balance, \$244,772 (6.2%) is available for spending at the government's discretion (unassigned fund balance).

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Plymouth District Library's basic financial statements. Plymouth District Library's basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of Plymouth District Library's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of Plymouth District Library's assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and deferred outflows, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of Plymouth District Library is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of Plymouth District Library that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of Plymouth District Library are limited to operating the Library. The Library has no business-type activities.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11 and 12 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Plymouth District Library, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of Plymouth District Library can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

Plymouth District Library maintains one individual governmental fund, which is the General Fund. The Library adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund, and a budgetary comparison statement has been provided to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support Plymouth District Library's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 and 14 of this report.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 15-41 of this report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the case of Plymouth District Library, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by \$13,764,366 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

| | December 31 | | | |
|----------------------------------|---------------|---------------|--|--|
| | | 2023 | | |
| | 2024 | (as restated) | | |
| Current and other assets | \$ 9,601,878 | \$ 9,098,207 | | |
| Current una curer assets | , , , | . , , | | |
| Capital assets | 10,663,900 | 10,841,361 | | |
| Lease assets | 20,128 | 27,232 | | |
| Subscription assets | - | 57,151 | | |
| Total assets | 20,285,906 | 20,023,951 | | |
| Deferred outflows | 909,102 | 1,464,623 | | |
| Other liabilities | 443,295 | 431,875 | | |
| Long-term liabilities | 2,130,078 | 2,659,197 | | |
| Total liabilities | 2,573,373 | 3,091,072 | | |
| Deferred inflows | 4,857,269 | 4,607,375 | | |
| Net position: | | | | |
| Net investment in capital assets | 10,663,900 | 10,841,361 | | |
| Unrestricted | 3,100,466 | 2,948,766 | | |
| Total net position | \$ 13,764,366 | \$ 13,790,127 | | |

A significant portion of Plymouth District Library's net position (77%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and improvements, equipment, furniture and fixtures, land improvements, and library materials); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The Library reported no outstanding debt related to investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Plymouth District Library used these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

The remaining portion of net position, unrestricted net position (\$3,100,466) may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

At the end of the current fiscal year, Plymouth District Library was able to report positive balances in both categories of net position. The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year.

The government's net position decreased by \$25,761 during the current fiscal year as shown in the following table:

| | Year Ended December 31 | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|------------------------|-----------|----|--------------|---|
| | | | | 2023 | |
| | | 2024 | (| as restated) | |
| Revenues: | | | | | |
| Property taxes | \$ | 4,086,150 | \$ | 3,882,030 | |
| Other revenues | | 629,179 | | 531,490 | |
| Total revenues | | 4,715,329 | | 4,413,520 | |
| | | | | | |
| Expenses: | | | | | |
| Salaries and employee benefits | | 2,977,835 | | 2,800,244 | |
| Other expenditures | | 923,749 | | 1,002,119 | |
| Depreciation and loss on disposal | | | | | |
| of capital assets | | 775,251 | | 612,982 | |
| Amortization of lease assets | | 7,104 | | 7,104 | |
| Amortization of and loss on | | | | | |
| disposal of subscription assets | | 57,151 | | 19,051 | |
| Total expenses | | 4,741,090 | | 4,441,500 | |
| | | | | | |
| Change in net position | \$ | (25,761) | \$ | (27,980) | _ |

Governmental activities. Governmental activities decreased Plymouth District Library's net position by \$25,761 due to the following:

- Revenues increased by approximately \$302,000 primarily due to increases in both property tax revenues stemming from increases in property tax values within the Library's service area and from increased contributions/donations.
- Expenses increased by approximately \$300,000. This stemmed from the following items:
 - Salaries and employee benefit expenses increased by approximately \$178,000 primarily due to increased costs associated with employee wages stemming from cost of living adjustments and merit raises, as well as inflation related to benefit costs.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

O Depreciation and loss on disposal of capital assets increased by approximately \$162,000 related to completion of projects and continued depreciation of assets.

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds

As noted earlier, Plymouth District Library used fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of Plymouth District Library's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing Plymouth District Library's financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, Plymouth District Library's governmental fund reported an ending fund balance of \$3,939,059, an increase of \$199,523 in comparison with the prior year restated ending fund balance. The increase in fund balance can be attributed to current year revenues exceeding current year expenditures. Revenues increased primarily due to increases in property tax revenues and donations/contributions. Expenditures increased primarily due to increases in salaries/wages and benefits expenditures, as well as due to completion of construction projects and continued depreciation of assets owned. Of the total fund balance, \$244,772 (6.2%) is available for spending at the governments discretion (unassigned fund balance). The Library has also "assigned" approximately \$3,525,000 to a variety of future projects including capital projects and unforeseen events/disasters. In addition, a portion of fund balance is classified as nonspendable and is related to prepaid expenses.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Total revenues were under the final budget by approximately \$203,000. A majority of the favorable revenue variance related to miscellaneous revenues and was due to shifting implementation timelines for large-scale projects, such as our ILS migration and interior refresh. Total expenditures were under the final budget by approximately \$402,000. This was largely attributable to less being spent for contractual services as a result of projects noted above.

General Fund expenditure budget amendments made during 2024 were primarily to improve library service offerings and align with changes to project scope and timing made during the year. Building projects slated for 2025, such as purchase of new self-checkout machines and reconfiguration of picture book shelving, were undertaken earlier to offset impacts to the public during considerable interior work.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. Plymouth District Library's investment in capital assets for its governmental activities as of December 31, 2024, amounted to \$10,663,900 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, construction in progress, building and improvements, equipment, land improvements, library materials (books), and furniture and fixtures.

During 2024 capital asset additions of approximately \$598,000 included additions to library materials totaling approximately \$224,000, as well as building and building improvement, equipment, furniture and fixture, and land improvement additions totaling approximately \$374,000. A majority of the additions outside of library materials related to land improvement projects for the Library's outdoor amphitheater.

Long-term debt. As of December 31, 2024, total long-term liabilities included compensated absences in the amount of \$82,868 and lease liabilities in the amount of \$20,128.

At the end of the current fiscal year, Plymouth District Library had no long-term bonded debt outstanding.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

Tax capture remains the primary revenue source for the operation of Plymouth District Library. Between 1985-1994 voters approved a 1.7 millage in perpetuity to support library services, however, Headlee Rollbacks following the Great Recession decreased the library's 2024 millage rate to 1.428, which determines property tax revenue to be levied and collected related to the Library's year ending December 31, 2025.

Planned improvements and repairs to the library building are earmarked in the Library's General Fund. Aging furniture, carpeting, elevators, and lighting are all expected to be replaced in the 2025 fiscal year. Projects to increase the Library's energy efficiency are also planned, to make the institution less vulnerable to increasing utility costs.

As described in the notes to the audited financial statements, during 2024, the Library was informed of an error in the calculations performed by Wayne County related to penal fines distributed to libraries throughout the county. Although the Library has accrued a liability due to Wayne County in the amount of \$274,638, the Library has not yet been presented with satisfactory evidence to support the calculated overpayment amount. The Library intends to continue to dispute the claim and will only pay Wayne County when satisfactory evidence can be provided.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2024

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Plymouth District Library's finances for all those with an interest in the Library's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Plymouth District Library Director.

Statement of Net Position/General Fund Balance Sheet

December 31, 2024

| | General Fund Modified Accrual Basis | Adjustments | Statement of Net Position |
|---|---|---------------|------------------------------|
| Assets: | | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ 1,807,844 | \$ - | \$ 1,807,844 |
| Investments | 2,771,404 | - | 2,771,404 |
| Prepaid expenses | 168,925 | - | 168,925 |
| Propery taxes receivable | 4,032,153 | - | 4,032,153 |
| Accounts receivable | 12,518 | - | 12,518 |
| Capital assets – net of accumulated depreciation | - | 10,663,900 | 10,663,900 |
| Lease assets – net of accumulated amortization | - | 20,128 | 20,128 |
| Net OPEB asset | | 809,034 | 809,034 |
| Total assets | 8,792,844 | 11,493,062 | 20,285,906 |
| Deferred outflows of resources: | | | |
| Deferred outflow related to pension | - | 344,544 | 344,544 |
| Deferred outflow related to OPEB | | 564,558 | 564,558 |
| Total deferred outflows of resources | - | 909,102 | 909,102 |
| Liabilities: | | | |
| Accounts payable | 30,809 | - | 30,809 |
| Accrued expenses | 412,486 | - | 412,486 |
| Long term liabilities: | | | |
| Due within one year | - | 15,391 | 15,391 |
| Due in more than one year | - | 87,605 | 87,605 |
| Net pension liability | - | 2,027,082 | 2,027,082 |
| Total liabilities | 443,295 | 2,130,078 | 2,573,373 |
| Deferred inflows of resources: | | | |
| Property taxes levied for a subsequent period | 4,410,490 | - | 4,410,490 |
| Deferred inflow related to pension | - | 225,304 | 225,304 |
| Deferred inflow related to OPEB | - | 221,475 | 221,475 |
| Total deferred inflows of resources | 4,410,490 | 446,779 | 4,857,269 |
| Fund balances and net position: | | | |
| Nonspendable Assigned: | 168,925 | (168,925) | - |
| Unforseen events/disasters | 1,525,362 | (1,525,362) | _ |
| Capital projects | 2,000,000 | (2,000,000) | _ |
| Unassigned | 244,772 | (244,772) | _ |
| Total fund balances | 3,939,059 | (3,939,059) | _ |
| Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balances | \$ 8,792,844 | | |
| Net position: | | 10 (62 000 | 10 ((2 000 |
| Invested in capital assets, net of related debt Unrestricted | | 10,663,900 | 10,663,900 |
| | | 3,100,466 | 3,100,466 |
| Total net position | | \$ 13,764,366 | \$ 13,764,366 |

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Statement of Activities/General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

December 31, 2024

| | N | neral Fund Modified crual Basis | Ad | justments | Statement of Activities |
|--|----|---------------------------------------|----|------------|-------------------------------|
| Revenues: | | | | | |
| Property taxes | \$ | 4,086,150 | \$ | - | \$ 4,086,150 |
| Local community stabilization act revenue | | 161,871 | | - | 161,871 |
| State shared revenues | | 38,075 | | - | 38,075 |
| Penal fines | | 33,204 | | - | 33,204 |
| Library materials fines and fees | | 6,764 | | - | 6,764 |
| Grants | | 47,150 | | - | 47,150 |
| Donations | | 138,842 | | - | 138,842 |
| Interest | | 186,025 | | - | 186,025 |
| Miscellaneous | | 17,248 | | - | 17,248 |
| Total revenues | | 4,715,329 | | - | 4,715,329 |
| Expenditures: | | | | | |
| Salaries and wages | | 2,232,273 | | (2,440) | 2,229,833 |
| Payroll taxes/benefits | | 702,872 | | 45,130 | 748,002 |
| Supplies | | 82,050 | | - | 82,050 |
| Contractual services | | 195,423 | | (26,869) | 168,554 |
| Telephone and utilities | | 179,722 | | - | 179,722 |
| Insurance | | 62,279 | | - | 62,279 |
| Repairs and maintenance | | 88,344 | | - | 88,344 |
| Capital outlay – library materials | | 432,171 | | (223,898) | 208,273 |
| Capital outlay – facility and equipment | | 381,263 | | (373,892) | 7,371 |
| Other expenses | | 125,757 | | - | 125,757 |
| Debt service | | | | | |
| Principal | | 32,253 | | (32,253) | - |
| Interest | | 1,399 | | - | 1,399 |
| Depreciation and loss on disposal of capital assets | | - | | 775,251 | 775,251 |
| Amortization of lease assets | | - | | 7,104 | 7,104 |
| Amortization and loss on disposal of subscription assets | | - | | 57,151 | 57,151 |
| Total expenditures | | 4,515,806 | | 225,284 | 4,741,090 |
| Change in fund balance/change in net position | | 199,523 | | (225,284) | (25,761) |
| Fund balance/net position at beginning of year after restatement | | 3,739,536 | | 10,050,591 | 13,790,127 |
| Fund balance/net position at end of year | \$ | 3,939,059 | \$ | 9,825,307 | \$ 13,764,366 |

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Statement of Post-Employment Healthcare Plan Net Position – VEBA Trust

December 31, 2024

| Assets | |
|---|-----------------|
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ 65,719 |
| Investments, at fair value: | |
| Mutual funds – equities | 2,258,229 |
| Mutual funds – bonds | 733,500 |
| Total assets | 3,057,448 |
| | |
| Net position | |
| Net position: | |
| Held in trust for post-employment healthcare benefits | \$ 3,057,448 |

Statement of Changes in Post-Employment Healthcare Plan Net Position – VEBA Trust

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

| Additions | |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------|
| Interest and dividends | \$ 70,204 |
| Unrealized gains on securities | 319,073 |
| Total additions | 389,277 |
| | _ |
| Deductions | |
| Benefits | 60,000 |
| Administrative expenses | 16,085 |
| Total deductions | 76,085 |
| | |
| Change in net position held in trust | 313,192 |
| | |
| Net position at beginning of year | 2,744,256 |
| Net position at end of year | \$ 3,057,448 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity

The Plymouth District Library (Library) was established by the approval of the voters of Plymouth Township and the City of Plymouth in a special election held September 10, 1985. The Library was formed under the authority of Public Act 164, of 1955. The Library provides public library services to the residents of the Community.

In accordance with the provisions of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board the financial statements of the Plymouth District Library contain all the Library's funds and authorities for which the Library is financially accountable and the nature and significance of their relationship with the Library are such that exclusion would cause the Library's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

The statement of net position includes and recognizes all long-term assets and receivables, as well as long-term debt and obligations. The Library's net position is reported in two components – invested in capital assets; and unrestricted net position.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (continued)

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Property taxes and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the Library.

Governmental Funds

The Library reports the following major governmental fund:

General Fund: This is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The Library has no non-major governmental funds.

Fiduciary Fund

Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the government in a trustee capacity or as an agent on behalf of others. Fiduciary funds include the following fund type:

VEBA Trust Fund: This fund accounts for the activities of the employee benefit plan that accumulates resources for certain post-employment benefit payments to qualified employees.

Restricted Resources

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position

Deposits and Investments

The Library's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. The Library participates in the Michigan CLASS local government investment pool. The Library's shares in that pool are recorded at net asset value, which approximates fair value.

State statutes authorize the government to deposit in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations and to invest in bonds, securities, obligations, or repurchase agreements of the United States, certificates of deposit, certain commercial paper, banker acceptances, certain obligations of the State of Michigan, mutual funds composed of otherwise legal investments, and external investment pools as authorized by Public Act 20 as amended through December 31, 1997.

Receivables and Payables

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as "due to/from other funds" (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or "advances to/from other funds" (i.e., non-current portion of interfund loans).

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of allowances for uncollectible accounts, which are recorded at \$0 as of December 31, 2024. Measurement focus refers to what is being measured, and basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurement made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

The Library's basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the Library as a whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the Library's major funds).

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (continued)

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property and equipment, are reported in the government-wide financial statements. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not capitalized, nor are expenditures for property and equipment under the \$5,000 threshold established by the Library's Fixed Asset Policy. In addition, library materials such as books and certain media are capitalized as a collection although they may have an individual cost less than \$5,000.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.

Property and equipment of the Plymouth District Library are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

| Assets | Years |
|------------------------------|-------|
| Buildings | 10-50 |
| Furniture and Equipment | 3-20 |
| Library Collection Materials | 10 |

Compensated Absences

Under terms and conditions set by the employee handbook, the Library allows full and part-time employees to accumulate specific amounts of vacation leave time and gives full and part-time employees specific amounts of sick leave time to use each year, which cannot be carried over to the next year. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement (GASBS) No. 101, liabilities for compensated absences are to be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. For leave that has not been used, a liability should be recognized if (a) the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A long-term liability for leave is recorded in the statement of net position for leave meeting the recognition criteria under GASBS No. 101.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (continued)

Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Library will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to one or more future periods and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Library reports deferred outflows of resources related to the pension and other post-employment benefit plans.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the related debt.

Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due. For other long-term obligations, only that portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial resources is reported as a fund liability of a governmental fund. The remaining portion of such obligations is reported in the statement of net position.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the Library will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to one or more future periods and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Library reports deferred inflows of resources related to taxes levied for a subsequent period, deferred gift revenues, and deferred inflows related to its pension and other post-employment benefit plans.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (continued)

Fund Balance Classifications and Procedures

In accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures (GASB Statement No. 54), the Library presents fund balance in five possible categories:

Nonspendable – amounts which cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted – amounts constrained to specific purposes by externally imposed constraints placed on the use of resources by their providers (such as creditors, grantors, contributors, and laws and regulations of other levels of government).

Committed – amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the Library Board (the government's highest level of decision-making authority). A formal resolution of the Library Board is required to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment.

Assigned – amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Assigned fund balances are developed by the Library Director, generally with review and approval of the Library Board.

Unassigned – amounts that are available for any purpose.

The Library has no minimum fund balance policies or stabilization funds.

Adopted Accounting Standard

The Library adopted GASB Statement No. 101, *Compensated Absences*, effective for the year ended December 31, 2024. The statement establishes new requirements for calculating and reporting the Library's compensated absences liability. The adoption of this statement did not have an impact on the Library.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability

Budgetary Information

The Library is legally subject to the budgetary control requirements of the State of Michigan P.A. 621 of 1978 (Uniform Budgeting Act). The following is a summary of the requirements of this act:

- a. Budgets must be adopted for the General Fund.
- b. Budgets must be balanced.
- c. Budgets must be amended as necessary.
- d. Public hearings must be held prior to adoption.
- e. Expenditures cannot exceed budget appropriations.
- f. Expenditures must be authorized by a budget appropriation prior to being incurred.

The Library follows the below procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in these financial statements:

- 1. Prior to December 1, the Library Director submits to the District Library Board the proposed operating budgets for the fiscal year commencing the following January 1. The operating budgets include proposed expenditures and the means of financing them for the General Fund.
- 2. Public hearings are conducted at the Library to obtain taxpayer comments.
- 3. Prior to December 31, the budgets are legally enacted at the function level.
- 4. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for all budgetary funds.
- 5. Budget appropriations lapse at year end.
- 6. The Library does not employ encumbrance accounting as an extension of formal budgetary integration in the governmental funds.
- 7. Budgeted amounts are reported as originally adopted or as amended by the District Library Board.
- 8. In 2024, budget amendments were made and are reflected in the financial statements.

Compliance with P.A. 621 of 1978

Fund Balance Deficits

The Library has no funds with accumulated fund balance deficits.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (continued)

Compliance with P.A. 621 of 1978 (continued)

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations in Budgetary Funds

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Library's general fund expenditures did not exceed the budgeted fund-level expenditure appropriation.

3. Deposits and Investments

Following is a reconciliation of cash and investment balances as of December 31, 2024 to the accompanying financial statements:

| Statement of Net Position: | |
|----------------------------|-----------------|
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ 1,807,844 |
| Investments | 2,771,404 |
| Fiduciary Fund: | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | 65,719 |
| Investments | 2,991,729 |
| Total | \$ 7,636,696 |
| Cash: | |
| Petty cash | \$ 710 |
| Deposits and Investments: | |
| Checking/savings | 986,927 |
| Money market | 65,719 |
| Certificates of deposit | 820,207 |
| Investments | 5,763,133 |
| Total | \$ 7,636,696 |

Investments were valued as follows as of December 31, 2024:

| Assets carried at fair value: | |
|---|-----------------|
| Fixed Income Mutual Funds | \$ 733,500 |
| Common Stock Mutual Funds | 2,258,229 |
| Assets carried at net asset value: | |
| External investment pools: | |
| Michigan CLASS | 2,771,404 |
| Total investments | \$ 5,763,133 |
| External investment pools: Michigan CLASS | \$ |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

3. Deposits and Investments (continued)

State Law for Deposits and Investments

Under State law the Library is permitted to make deposits and invest in deposit accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations and to invest in bonds, securities, obligations, or repurchase agreements of the United States, certificates of deposit, certain commercial paper, banker acceptances, certain obligations of the State of Michigan, mutual funds composed of otherwise legal investments, and external investment pools as authorized by Public Act 20 as amended through December 31, 1997.

The Voluntary Employee Benefits (VEBA) Trust Fund is also authorized by Michigan law to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, real estate (if the trust fund's assets exceed \$250 million), debt, or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles.

Deposit and Investment Risk

The Library's cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are detailed below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Library's deposits may not be recovered. The Library does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of December 31, 2024, the Library's book balance of its deposits across all funds was \$1,872,853. The bank balance of \$1,967,066 was exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:

| | Balance |
|--------------------------------|--------------|
| Insured by F.D.I.C | \$ 815,719 |
| Uninsured and uncollateralized | 1,151,347 |
| Total | \$ 1,967,066 |

Rank

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

3. Deposits and Investments (continued)

Deposit and Investment Risk (continued)

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The Library's policy does not restrict investment maturities other than commercial paper, which can only be purchased with a 270-day maturity. At year end, the average maturities of fixed income investments are as follows:

| | F | air Value | Weighted Average Maturity |
|-------------------------------|----|-----------|---------------------------------|
| VEBA Investments | | | |
| Fixed income: | | | |
| Vanguard Total Bond | | | |
| Index Admiral, Fund #584 | \$ | 319,618 | 8.3 years |
| Vanguard Intermediate-Term | | | |
| Corporate Fund Admiral Shares | | | |
| Fund #571 | \$ | 413,882 | 7.5 years |

Credit Risk: State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The Library has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the credit quality ratings of debt securities (other than the U.S. government) are as follows:

| Investment | Fai | r Value | Rating | Agency |
|--|-----|---------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| VEBA Investments Fixed Income: | | | | |
| Vanguard Total Bond Index Admiral, Fund #584 | \$ | 319,618 | 86.8% A or above 13.2% BBB or below | Moody's, Fitch or S&P |
| Vanguard Intermediate-Term Corporate Fund Admiral Shares Fund #571 | \$ | 413,882 | 44.9% A or above 53.4% BBB or below | Moody's or S&P |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

3. Deposits and Investments (continued)

Deposit and Investment Risk (continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Library places no limit on the amount the Library may invest in any one issuer (VEBA board only permits mutual fund investments to gain diversification). The Library has more than 5% of its investments in the following:

| VEBA Investments | |
|----------------------------------|--------|
| Vanguard 500 Index Admiral Fund | |
| #540 | 52.88% |
| Vanguard Total Bond Market | |
| Index Admiral Fund #584 | 10.68% |
| Vanguard Developed Markets | |
| Index Mutual Fund | 11.22% |
| Vanguard Intermediate Term | |
| Corporate Admiral Bond Fund #571 | 13.83% |
| Vanguard Small Cap Index | |
| Admiral Mutual Fund #548 | 6.76% |

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Library will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Library does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the following investment securities were uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent in the Library's name.

| Type of Investment | Carrying Value | How Held |
|--|-------------------|--------------|
| VEBA Investments | | |
| Fixed Income Mutual Funds | \$ 733,500 | Counterparty |
| Common Stock Mutual Funds | \$ 2,258,229 | Counterparty |
| Governmental Fund Investments MI CLASS | \$ 2,771,404 | Counterparty |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

4. Fair Value Measurements

The Library categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation. The Library's assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability.

All of the Library's investments measured at fair value are considered to be Level 1 inputs.

5. Investments Valued at Net Asset Value (NAV)

The Michigan (MI) CLASS investment has a stable value of \$1.00 per share and is valued at NAV. MI CLASS has no minimum deposit, holding, or redemption requirements. Withdrawals can be made daily. The investment is rated "AAAm" by S&P.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

6. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 was as follows:

| Governmental Activities | Beginning Balance | Additions | Deletions | Ending Balance |
|----------------------------|----------------------|-----------|--------------|-------------------|
| Capital assets, not | | | | |
| depreciated: | | | | |
| Construction in progress | \$ 129,645 | \$ - | \$ (129,645) | \$ - |
| Land | 765,210 | - | - | 765,210 |
| | 894,855 | - | (129,645) | 765,210 |
| Capital assets, being | | | | |
| depreciated: | | | | |
| Building and | | | | |
| improvements | 15,111,113 | 6,120 | (227,848) | 14,889,385 |
| Equipment | 970,668 | 51,564 | (303,232) | 719,000 |
| Books | 1,929,392 | 223,898 | (66,590) | 2,086,700 |
| Furniture and fixtures | 1,962,861 | 19,790 | (36,272) | 1,946,379 |
| Land improvements | | 296,418 | | 296,418 |
| | 19,974,034 | 597,790 | (633,942) | 19,937,882 |
| Less: Accumulated | | | | |
| depreciation: | | | | |
| Building and | | | | |
| improvements | 6,233,782 | 364,795 | (227,848) | 6,370,729 |
| Equipment | 774,553 | 58,697 | (303,233) | 530,017 |
| Books | 1,137,568 | 137,442 | - | 1,275,010 |
| Furniture and fixtures | 1,881,625 | 15,150 | (33,339) | 1,863,436 |
| | 10,027,528 | 576,084 | (564,420) | 10,039,192 |
| Capital assets, being | | | | |
| depreciated, net | 9,946,506 | 21,706 | (69,522) | 9,898,690 |
| Governmental | | | | |
| Activities | | | | |
| Capital assets, net | \$ 10,841,361 | \$ 21,706 | \$ (199,167) | \$ 10,663,900 |

Depreciation expense was \$576,084 for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

7. Long-term Liabilities

Long-term debt obligation of the Library can be summarized as follows:

| | pensated osences | Ι | Leases | Subse | criptions | 7 | Total |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|----|---------|-------|-----------|----|----------|
| Balance – January 1, 2024 | \$ 85,308 | \$ | 27,232 | \$ | 52,018 | \$ | 164,558 |
| Additions | - | | - | | - | | - |
| Retirements | (2,440) | | (7,104) | | (52,018) | | (61,562) |
| Balance – December 31, 2024 | 82,868 | | 20,128 | | - | | 102,996 |
| Less: current portion | (8,287) | | (7,104) | | - | | (15,391) |
| Total due after one year | \$ 74,581 | \$ | 13,024 | \$ | - | \$ | 87,605 |

8. Leases

The Library's lease agreements as of December 31, 2024, are summarized as follows:

| Description | Origination Date | Payment Term | 2024 Payment Amount | Interest Rate | Total Original Lease Liability | Current Year Additional Outflows | Balance December 31, 2024 |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|-----------------|---------------------------|------------------|---|---|---------------------------------|
| Library Printers/Copiers | 11/22/2022 | 5 years | \$ 7,104 | N/A | \$ 35,520 | \$ - | \$ 20,128 |
| Total lease agreem | nents | · | \$ 7,104 | _ | · | \$ - | \$ 20,128 |

The Library leases printers/copiers through a lease agreement that was executed on November 22, 2022, at which time payments began. The lease expires 60 months from execution, which is November 21, 2027 and is not renewable. The lease contains a purchase option that the Library does not expect to exercise.

Right-to-use lease asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 was as follows:

| Governmental Activities | Beginning Balance | Additions | Deletions | Ending Balance |
|--|----------------------|------------|-----------|-------------------|
| Right-to-use leased assets being amortized: | \$ 35,520 | \$ - | \$ - | \$ 35,520 |
| Less: Accumulated amortization | 8,288 | 7,104 | - | 15,392 |
| Right-to-use leased assets, being amortized, net | \$ 27,232 | \$ (7,104) | \$ - | \$ 20,128 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

8. Leases (continued)

Amortization expense was \$7,104 for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Lease commitments consisting solely of principal amounts due are as follows as of December 31, 2024:

| Year Ending | |
|-------------|-----------|
| December 31 | Principal |
| | |
| 2025 | \$ 7,104 |
| 2026 | 7,104 |
| 2027 | 5,920 |
| | \$ 20,128 |

9. Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs)

The Library has SBITAs that are used for various software licenses and remote hosting arrangements, which meet the capitalization criteria specified by GAAP. Therefore, the SBITAs have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum payments as of the inception date.

Right-to-use subscription asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 was as follows:

| Governmental Activities | Beginning Balance | Additions | D | eletions | Endin Balan | 0 |
|--|----------------------|-----------|------|----------|----------------|---|
| Right-to-use subscription assets being amortized: | \$ 76,202 | \$ - | - \$ | 76,202 | \$ | - |
| Less: Accumulated amortization | 19,051 | - | - | 19,051 | | |
| Right-to-use subscription assets, being amortized, net | \$ 57,151 | \$ - | - \$ | 57,151 | \$ | |

Amortization expense was \$0 for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

10. Assets Held at the Community Foundation

There are two endowment funds administered by the Community Foundation for Southeast Michigan (CFSEM) for the benefit of the Library. The CFSEM is a public charity that is funded through donations by a large number of contributors. Although the Library does not control the assets held at the CFSEM, by agreement, the purpose of the endowment funds is to provide support and furtherance of programs and activities of Plymouth District Library. Accordingly, the Library has not recorded these assets in its financial statements. Revenue is recorded when distributions are received from the CFSEM.

A summary of changes in assets held at the CFSEM is as follows:

| Balance – January 1, 2024 | \$ 1,084,635 |
|----------------------------------|--------------|
| Contributions | 275 |
| Investment earnings, net of fees | 113,123 |
| Distributions | (48,825) |
| Balance – December 31, 2024 | \$ 1,149,208 |

Each year, the Library can withdraw 4.5% of the average of the prior twelve quarters-end market value through June 30 of the previous year. As of December 31, 2024, the amount available to draw in 2025 approximated \$48,500.

11. Property Taxes

Property taxes are assessed as of each December 31. The Library tax levy is billed on July 1 of the following year, and payable in eight installments through February. Taxes are considered delinquent on March 1 at which time the applicable property is subject to lien and penalty and interest is assessed. The maximum authorized operating levy for the Library on the 2024 tax roll is as follows:

| Type | Source of Authorization | Original Authorization | Maximum Authorization After "Roll Back" | Amount Levied |
|-----------|----------------------------|---------------------------|--|------------------|
| | | | | |
| Operating | Vote: 11/85 | .8000 | .6257 | .6257 |
| Operating | Vote: 11/87 | .4000 | .3240 | .3240 |
| Operating | Vote: 11/94 | .5000 | .4783 | .4783 |
| Total | | | | 1.4280 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

12. Municipal Employees Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan

The Plymouth District Library participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS); a multiple employer state-wide, public employee defined benefit pension plan created under Public Act 135 of 1945, and now operates under Public Act 220 of 1996, and the MERS Plan Document as revised. MERS was established to provide retirement, survivor and disability benefits on a voluntary basis to the State of Michigan's local government employees. Act No. 427 of the Public Acts of 1984, as amended, establishes and amends the benefits provisions of the participants in MERS. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for MERS. That report may be obtained by accessing the MERS website at www.mersofmich.com.

Benefit Provisions

- Benefit Multiplier 2.0%
- Normal Retirement Age 60
- Vesting 8 years
- Early Retirement 55/25 (unreduced)
- Early Retirement 50/25 (reduced)
- Early Retirement 55/15 (reduced)
- Final Average Compensation 5 years
- COLA 2.5% (non compounded) before January 1, 2024, 0.0% after January 1, 2024

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

As of the December 31, 2023 measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

| Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits | 16 |
|---|----|
| Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits | 5 |
| Active plan members | 11 |
| Total employees covered by MERS | 32 |
| | |

Contributions

Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that financial benefits arising on account of employee service rendered in each year be funded during that year. Accordingly, MERS retains an independent actuary to determine the annual contribution. The employer is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by the MERS retirement board. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer may establish contribution rates to be paid by its covered employees.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

12. Municipal Employees Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan (continued)

Contributions (continued)

The plan adopted by the District Library Board requires no member contributions. The Library is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the monthly rate for 2024 (determined as of the December 31, 2022 valuation) was \$25,304 for the Plan's only division, the General Division, which is closed to new hires. Total contributions made during 2024 were \$272,508. Contribution requirements of plan members and the Library are established and may be amended by the Library, depending on the MERS contribution program adopted by the Library.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported as of December 31, 2024 was determined using a measurement of the total pension liability and the pension net position as of December 31, 2024, using an actuarial valuation performed as of December 31, 2023.

The components of the change in the net pension liability during the measurement year were as follows:

| | Total Pension Liability (a) | Plan Fiduciary Net Position (b) | Net Pension Liability (a) – (b) |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Balance as of January 1, 2024 | \$ 6,566,323 | \$ 4,071,684 | \$ 2,494,639 |
| Service cost | 93,944 | - | 93,944 |
| Interest | 464,173 | _ | 464,173 |
| Changes in benefit terms | (168,478) | _ | (168,478) |
| Contributions – employer | _ | 272,508 | (272,508) |
| Net investment income (loss) | - | 301,744 | (301,744) |
| Changes in experience | (337,956) | - | (337,956) |
| Changes in actuarial assumptions | 45,951 | - | 45,951 |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (421,822) | (421,822) | - |
| Administrative expenses | _ | (8,939) | 8,939 |
| Other expenses | 122 | _ | 122 |
| Net changes | (324,066) | 143,491 | (467,557) |
| Balance as of December 31, 2024 | \$ 6,242,257 | \$ 4,215,175 | \$ 2,027,082 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

12. Municipal Employees Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan (continued)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

As of December 31, 2024, the Library reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

| Source | Deferred Outflows of Resources | | Deferred Inflows of Resources | |
|---|--------------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------------------|---------|
| Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments Net difference related to changes in experience | \$ | 162,016 97,449 | \$ | 225,304 |
| Net difference related to changes in assumptions Total | <u> </u> | 85,079 344,544 | \$ | 225,304 |

Amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

| Year Ended December 31 | F | Amount | | |
|------------------------|----|----------|--|--|
| 2025 | \$ | 84,350 | | |
| 2026 | | 68,689 | | |
| 2027 | | (31,342) | | |
| 2028 | | (2,457) | | |
| Total | \$ | 119,240 | | |

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumption, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

| Inflation | 2.5 % |
|------------------------------|-------|
| Salary increases | 3.0 % |
| Investment on rate of return | 6.93% |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

12. Municipal Employees Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions (continued)

The base mortality tables used are constructed as described below and are based on amount weighted sex distinct rates:

- Pre-retirement mortality based on 100% of Pub-2010 Juvenile Mortality Tables for ages 0-17, 100% of PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Tables for ages 18-80, and 100% of PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree Tables for ages 81-120
- Non-disabled retired plan members and beneficiaries mortality based on 106% of Pub-2010
 Juvenile Mortality Tables for ages 0-17, 106% of PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Tables for
 ages 18-49, and 106% of PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree Tables for ages 50-120
- Disabled retired plan members mortality based on 100% of Pub-2010 Juvenile Mortality Tables for ages 0-17, and 100% of PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree Tables for ages 18-120

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2023 valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study of 2014-2018.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2024 was 7.18%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate.

Projected Cash Flows

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return as of December 31, 2024, the measurement date, for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

12. Municipal Employees Retirement System Defined Benefit Plan (continued)

Projected Cash Flows (continued)

| | | Long-term |
|---------------------|------------|----------------------|
| | Target | Expected Real |
| Asset Class | Allocation | Rate of Return |
| | | |
| Global Equity | 60.00% | 2.70% |
| Global Fixed Income | 20.00% | 0.40% |
| Private Investments | 20.00% | 1.40% |

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Library as of December 31, 2024, calculated using the discount rate of 7.18%, as well as what the Library's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.18%) or one percentage point higher (8.18%) than the current rate:

| | | | Current | |
|----|--------------------|----|-----------------------|---------------------|
| 1% | % Decrease (6.18%) | Γ | Discount Rate (7.18%) | 1% Increase (8.18%) |
| \$ | 2,704,071 | \$ | 2.027.082 | \$ 1,454,957 |

13. Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA)

The Plymouth District Library Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA) Plan is a single-employer defined benefit post-employment healthcare plan established by Plymouth District Library to provide medical and healthcare benefits for retirees and their beneficiaries. Eligible participants include any retirees who receive pension benefits under the Plymouth District Library's pension plan. Plan provisions are established and may be amended by the Plymouth District Library Board of Trustees. The Plan is funded by a trust agreement established pursuant to Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code which allows for the formation of a VEBA.

Membership in the plan consisted of:

| Retirees and survivors eligible for benefits | 15 |
|--|----|
| Inactive plan members | 1 |
| Active plan members | 20 |
| Total participants | 36 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

13. Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA) (continued)

Subject to certain age and length of service requirements, eligible participants receive the same medical insurance coverage under the Plan as was in effect at the time of their employment. At such time participants become Medicare eligible, the benefits under the Plan change to Medicare Supplemental coverage.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting. The financial statements for the VEBA trust are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employer contributions to each plan are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan.

Method Used to Value Investments. Investments are reported at fair value, which is determined by the mean of the most recent bid and asked prices as obtained from dealers that make markets in such securities. Securities for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair value as determined by the custodian under the direction of the VEBA board of trustees, with the assistance of a valuation service.

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Changes in Net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liability

The components of the change in the Net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) liability are summarized as follows:

| | Total OPEB Liability (a) | Plan Net Position (b) | Net OPEB Liability (Asset) (a) - (b) |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Balance as of January 1, 2024 | \$ 1,993,858 | \$ 2,744,256 | \$ (750,398) |
| Service cost | 124,515 | _ | 124,515 |
| Interest | 128,682 | - | 128,682 |
| Experience losses | 69,684 | - | 69,684 |
| Change in actuarial assumptions | 83,247 | - | 83,247 |
| Employer contributions | - | 91,572 | (91,572) |
| Net investment income (loss) | - | 389,277 | (389,277) |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (151,572) | (151,572) | - |
| Administrative expenses | - | (16,085) | 16,085 |
| Net changes | 254,556 | 313,192 | (58,636) |
| Balance as of December 31, 2024 | \$ 2,248,414 | \$ 3,057,448 | \$ (809,034) |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

13. Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA) (continued)

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

As of December 31, 2024, the Library reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

| Source | O | Deferred utflows of lesources | Deferred Inflows of Resources |
|---|----|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Net difference between projected and actual earnings on | | | |
| OPEB plan investments | \$ | - | \$ 101,843 |
| Net difference related to changes in experience | | 248,840 | 62,917 |
| Net difference related to changes in assumptions | | 315,718 | 56,715 |
| Total | \$ | 564,558 | \$ 221,475 |

Amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in expense as follows:

| Year Ended December 31 | Amount |
|---------------------------|------------|
| 2025 | \$ 82,324 |
| 2026 | 129,406 |
| 2027 | (4,882) |
| 2028 | 62,426 |
| 2029 | 70,810 |
| Thereafter | 2,999 |
| Total | \$ 343,083 |

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability (asset) of the Library as of December 31, 2024, calculated using the discount rate of 6.1%, as well as what the Library's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

13. Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA) (continued)

| | Current | | |
|--------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|--|
| 1% Decrease (5.1%) | Discount Rate (6.1%) | 1% Increase (7.1%) | |
| \$ (468,028) | \$ (809,034) | \$ (1,083,905) | |

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Library as of December 31, 2024, as well as what the Library's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

| | Healthcare | | | |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|--|--|
| Cost Trend | | | | |
| 1% Decrease | Rate | 1% Increase | | |
| | | | | |
| \$ (1,139,832) | \$ (809,034) | \$ (392,476) | | |

14. Risk Management

The Library is a member of the Michigan Municipal Liability and Property Pool for its general liability coverage and a member of the Michigan Municipal Workers Compensation Fund for its workers compensation coverage. Both pools are sponsored by the Michigan Municipal League. The Library pays annual premiums to the pools. The pools are self-sustaining through member premiums, and each carries reinsurance through commercial companies for claims in excess of the pool loss reserve fund.

In the event that a single loss should exceed the amount of protection afforded by the pool loss reserve fund, reinsurance, or other insurance carried by the pools, or in the event that a series of losses should deplete or exhaust the loss reserve fund and reinsurance, the payment of valid losses shall be the obligation of the individual member or members of the respective pool against whom the claim was made.

No such event has occurred with the Library and the pools to which it belongs in any of the past three fiscal years.

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

15. Reconciliation of Fund Financial Statements to Government-Wide Financial Statements

Total fund balance and the net change in fund balance of the Library's governmental fund differs from net position and changes in net position of the governmental activities reported in the statement of net position and statement of activities. This difference primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the statement of net position and statement of activities versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental fund balance sheet and statement of revenue, expenditures, and changes in fund balance. The following are reconciliations of fund balance to net position and the net change in fund balance to the net change in net position:

| Total Fund Balance – Modified Accrual Basis | \$ 3,939,059 |
|--|------------------|
| Amounts reported in the statement of net position are different because: | |
| Capital assets and right-to-use lease assets are not financial resources and | |
| are not reported in the fund: | |
| Capital assets | 10,663,900 |
| Lease assets | 20,128 |
| Certain assets are not available for use in the current period and therefore | |
| are not reported in the funds: | |
| Net other post-employment benefit (OPEB) asset | 809,034 |
| Deferred outflows related to pension | 344,544 |
| Deferred outflows related to OPEB | 564,558 |
| Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and | |
| therefore are not reported in the funds: | |
| Compensated absences | (82,868) |
| Net pension liability | (2,027,082) |
| Deferred inflows related to pension | (225,304) |
| Deferred inflows related to OPEB | (221,475) |
| Lease liability | (20,128) |
| Net Position – Full Accrual Basis | \$ 13,764,366 |

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

15. Reconciliation of Fund Financial Statements to Government-Wide Financial Statements (continued)

| Net Change in Fund Balance – Modified Accrual Basis | \$ 199,523 |
|--|----------------|
| Amounts reported in the statement of activities are different because: | |
| Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in the statement of | |
| revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance; in the statement | |
| of activities, these costs are allocated over their estimated useful lives | |
| as depreciation: | |
| Capital outlay | 597,790 |
| Depreciation and loss on disposal of capital assets | (775,251) |
| Amortization of leased assets | (7,104) |
| Amortization and disposal of subscription assets | (57,151) |
| Repayments of lease and subscription liabilities are reported as | |
| expenditures in the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes | |
| in fund balance; in the statement of activities, these repayments are | |
| reported as reductions to the related liability balance: | |
| Repayments of lease liabilities | 7,104 |
| Repayments of subscription liabilities and disposal of subscription | 52,018 |
| Change in the accrual for long-term compensated absences reported | |
| in the statement of activities but not in the governmental funds | 2,440 |
| Change in net pension liability and related deferred amounts is reported | |
| in the statement of activities but not in the governmental funds | (34,848) |
| Change in the net OPEB asset and related deferred amounts is reported | |
| in the statement of activities but not in the governmental funds | (10,282) |
| Net Change in Net Position – Full Accrual Basis | \$ (25,761) |

16. Correction of an Error

During 2024, the Library was informed of an error in the calculations performed by Wayne County (County) related to penal fines distributed to libraries throughout the County. The County alleges that the miscalculation, which spans from 2014 through 2023, resulted in an overpayment to the Library.

Although the Library has recorded an accrued liability of \$274,638 to reflect the County's claim, it has not yet been presented with adequate or satisfactory documentation to substantiate the amount. The Library continues to dispute the accuracy of the calculation and intends to withhold payment until sufficient evidence is provided.

As a result of this pending issue, a restatement of beginning fund balance and net position as of December 31, 2024, was made to reflect the potential liability. The cumulative adjustment decreased beginning fund balance and net position by \$274,638, as shown below:

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2024

16. Correction of an Error (continued)

| | Fund Balance | | Net Position |
|---|--------------|-----------|---------------|
| Balance as of December 31, 2023 per prior year audited financial statements | \$ | 4,014,174 | \$ 14,064,765 |
| Minus: Liability correction: | | | |
| Accrued expenses | | (274,638) | (274,638) |
| Restated balance as of December 31, 2023 | \$ | 3,739,536 | \$ 13,790,127 |



Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund

Year Ended December 31, 2024

| | General Fund | | | | |
|--|--------------|--------------|--------------|----------------------------|--|
| | | Final | | Variance | |
| | Original | Amended | | Favorable (Unfavorable) | |
| | Budget | Budget | Actual | | |
| Revenues: | | | | | |
| Property taxes | \$ 4,200,000 | \$ 4,085,000 | \$ 4,086,150 | \$ 1,150 | |
| Local community stabilization act revenue | - | 161,000 | 161,871 | 871 | |
| State shared revenues | 35,000 | 38,000 | 38,075 | 75 | |
| Penal fines | 20,000 | 33,000 | 33,204 | 204 | |
| Library materials fines and fees | 3,000 | 5,000 | 6,764 | 1,764 | |
| Grants | 20,000 | 47,000 | 47,150 | 150 | |
| Donations | 80,000 | 125,000 | 138,842 | 13,842 | |
| Interest | 100,000 | 160,000 | 186,025 | 26,025 | |
| Miscellaneous | 2,000 | 264,000 | 17,248 | (246,752) | |
| Total revenues | 4,460,000 | 4,918,000 | 4,715,329 | (202,671) | |
| Expenditures: | | | | | |
| Salaries and wages | 2,090,000 | 2,244,500 | 2,232,273 | 12,227 | |
| Payroll taxes/benefits | 769,000 | 733,000 | 702,872 | 30,128 | |
| Supplies | 90,000 | 85,000 | 82,050 | 2,950 | |
| Contractual services | 215,000 | 455,952 | 195,423 | 260,529 | |
| Telephone and utilities | 220,000 | 183,000 | 179,722 | 3,278 | |
| Insurance | 65,000 | 64,000 | 62,279 | 1,721 | |
| Repairs and maintenance | 120,000 | 120,000 | 88,344 | 31,656 | |
| Capital outlay – library materials | 325,000 | 408,000 | 432,171 | (24,171) | |
| Capital outlay – facility and equipment | 443,000 | 458,896 | 381,263 | 77,633 | |
| Other expenses | 123,000 | 132,000 | 125,757 | 6,243 | |
| Debt service | | | | | |
| Principal | - | 32,253 | 32,253 | - | |
| Interest | | 1,399 | 1,399 | - | |
| Total expenditures | 4,460,000 | 4,918,000 | 4,515,806 | 402,194 | |
| Change in fund balance | - | - | 199,523 | 199,523 | |
| Fund balance at beginning of year, as restated | 3,739,536 | 3,739,536 | 3,739,536 | | |
| Fund balance at end of year | \$ 3,739,536 | \$ 3,739,536 | \$ 3,939,059 | \$ 199,523 | |

MERS Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

| | 2024 | 2 | 2023 | | 2022 | | 2021 | | 2020 | | 2019 | | 2018 | | 2017 | | 2016 |
|--|--------------|--------|----------|----|-----------|----|-----------|----|-----------|----|-----------|----|---|----|------------|----|------------|
| Total pension liability: | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Service cost | \$ 93,944 | \$ | 105,693 | \$ | 105,374 | \$ | 104,921 | \$ | 106,073 | \$ | 94,263 | \$ | 95,461 | \$ | 103,754 | \$ | 87,225 |
| Interest | 464,173 | 4 | 444,867 | | 437,110 | | 412,418 | | 379,351 | | 381,705 | | 352,390 | | 318,554 | | 298,067 |
| Other changes | (168,356 |) | (27,953) | | (70) | | - | | - | | - | | - | | - | | 15,055 |
| Changes in assumptions | 45,951 | | - | | 217,780 | | 405,366 | | 133,564 | | - | | - | | - | | 239,342 |
| Changes in experience | (337,956 |) [| 170,070 | | 49,656 | | 85,658 | | 136,432 | | - | | 92,664 | | 115,236 | | 57,284 |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (421,822 |) (4 | 419,206) | | (431,509) | | (377,776) | | (346,897) | | (339,602) | | (317,251) | | (270,055) | | (261,838) |
| Net change in total pension liability | (324,066 |) 2 | 273,471 | | 378,341 | | 630,587 | | 408,523 | | 136,366 | | 223,264 | | 267,489 | | 435,135 |
| Total pension liability at beginning of year | 6,566,323 | 6.3 | 292,852 | | 5,914,511 | | 5,283,924 | | 4,875,401 | | 4,739,035 | | 4,515,771 | | 4,248,282 | | 3,813,147 |
| Total pension liability at end of year | \$ 6,242,257 | | 566,323 | \$ | 6,292,852 | \$ | 5,914,511 | \$ | 5,283,924 | \$ | 4,875,401 | \$ | 4,739,035 | \$ | 4,515,771 | | 4,248,282 |
| | + +,= :=,=+, | 4 0,0 | | - | *,=>=,== | 7 | -,,,, | - | -,, | | .,.,., | | .,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | Ť | 1,0 10,1,1 | | .,, |
| Plan fiduciary net position: | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Contributions – employer | \$ 272,508 | \$ 3 | 336,329 | \$ | 302,081 | \$ | 199,138 | \$ | 191,925 | \$ | 190,014 | \$ | 154,875 | \$ | 174,414 | \$ | 124,389 |
| Contributions – employee | - | | - | | - | | - | | - | | - | | - | | - | | - |
| Net investment income | 301,744 | | 413,002 | | (449,814) | | 550,802 | | 455,563 | | 452,712 | | (140,294) | | 438,524 | | 353,258 |
| Administrative expenses | (8,939 |) | (8,740) | | (7,938) | | (6,319) | | (7,300) | | (7,797) | | (7,065) | | (6,950) | | (6,977) |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (421,822 |) (4 | 419,206) | | (431,509) | | (377,776) | | (346,897) | | (339,602) | | (317,251) | | (270,055) | | (261,838) |
| Net change in plan fiduciary net position | 143,491 | 3 | 321,385 | | (587,180) | | 365,845 | | 293,291 | | 295,327 | | (309,735) | | 335,933 | | 208,832 |
| DI C1 : | 4.071.604 | 2.0 | 750 200 | | 4 227 470 | | 2.071.624 | | 2 (70 242 | | 2 202 016 | | 2 (02 751 | | 2 256 010 | | 2 1 47 007 |
| Plan fiduciary net position at beginning of year | 4,071,684 | | 750,299 | Φ | 4,337,479 | Ф | 3,971,634 | Φ | 3,678,343 | Ф | 3,383,016 | Ф | 3,692,751 | Φ. | 3,356,818 | Φ. | 3,147,986 |
| Plan fiduciary net position at end of year | \$ 4,215,175 | \$ 4,0 | 071,684 | \$ | 3,750,299 | \$ | 4,337,479 | \$ | 3,971,634 | \$ | 3,678,343 | \$ | 3,383,016 | \$ | 3,692,751 | \$ | 3,356,818 |
| Library's net pension liability – ending | \$ 2,027,082 | \$ 2,4 | 494,639 | \$ | 2,542,553 | \$ | 1,577,032 | \$ | 1,312,290 | \$ | 1,197,058 | \$ | 1,356,019 | \$ | 823,020 | \$ | 891,464 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of total pension liability | 67.5% |) | 62.0% | | 59.6% | | 73.3% | | 75.2% | | 75.4% | | 71.4% | | 81.8% | | 79.0% |
| Covered employee payroll | \$ 780,625 | \$ 8 | 881,681 | \$ | 899,777 | \$ | 894,338 | \$ | 934,547 | \$ | 822,228 | \$ | 831,923 | \$ | 913,279 | \$ | 836,285 |
| Library's net pension liability as a percent of covered employee payroll | 259.7% | ,) | 282.9% | | 282.6% | | 176.3% | | 140.4% | | 145.6% | | 163.0% | | 90.1% | | 106.6% |

MERS Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Schedule of Library Pension Contributions

| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | | 2021 | 2020 | 2019 | 2018 | 2017 | 2016 | 2015 |
|--|----|---------|------------------|---------|---------|------------|---------|------------------|------------|------------|------------|---------|
| Actuarially determined contribution Contributions in relation to the actuarially | \$ | 272,508 | \$ 288,876 \$ | 288,840 | \$ | 219,798 \$ | 191,925 | \$ 185,912 \$ | 154,875 \$ | 136,414 \$ | 124,389 \$ | 104,786 |
| determined contribution | - | 336,329 | 302,081 | | 219,798 | 191,925 | 185,912 | 154,875 | 174,414 | 124,389 | 104,786 | |
| Contributions additional (deficiency) | \$ | - | \$ 47,453 \$ | 13,241 | \$ | - \$ | - | \$ - \$ | - \$ | 38,000 \$ | - \$ | |
| Covered employee payroll | \$ | 780,625 | \$ 881,681 \$ | 899,777 | \$ | 907,883 \$ | 894,338 | \$ 885,305 \$ | 828,650 \$ | 913,279 \$ | 836,285 \$ | 800,682 |
| Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll | | 34.9% | 38.1% | 33.6% | | 24.2% | 21.5% | 21.0% | 18.7% | 19.1% | 14.9% | 13.1% |

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actua

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 each year, which is 12 months prior to the beginning of the fiscal year in which the contributions are required.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost

Amortization method Level percent Remaining amortization period 16 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothing method

Salary increases 3.00% including inflation of 2.5%

Investment rate of return 7.00% Normal retirement age Age 60

Mortality Pre-retirement mortality:

-100% of Pub-2010 Juvenile Mortality Tables for Ages 0-17

-100% of PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Tables for Ages 18-80

-100% of PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree Tables for Ages 81-120

Non-disabled retired plan members and beneficiaries:

-106% of Pub-2010 Juvenile Mortality Tables for Ages 0-17

-106% of PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Tables for Ages 18-49

-106% of PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree Tables for Ages 50-120

Disabled retired plan members:

-100% of Pub-2010 Juvenile Mortality Tables for Ages 0-17

-100% of PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree Tables for Ages 18-120

$Other\ Post-Employment\ Healthcare\ Plan-VEBA\ Trust$

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | 2021 | 2020 | | 2019 | | 2018 |
|---|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------------|-----------|------|-----------|-----|-----------|
| Total OPEB liability: | | | | | | | | | |
| Service cost | \$ 124,515 | \$ 66,418 | \$ 72,848 | \$ 53,832 \$ | 75,405 | \$ | 94,042 | \$ | 97,344 |
| Interest | 128,682 | 105,933 | 96,879 | 102,602 | 103,600 | | 92,131 | | 85,860 |
| Experience (gains) losses | 69,684 | 209,841 | 80,758 | (140,832) | (257,855 |) | (11,433) | | (13,595) |
| Change in benefit terms | - | (30,816) | - | - | - | | - | | (148,180) |
| Change in actuarial assumptions | 83,247 | 354,715 | (80,019) | (27,209) | (194,336 | | (438,433) | | 133,476 |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (151,572) | (116,515) | (138,938) | (80,457) | (40,593 | / | (24,539) | | (19,003) |
| Net change in total pension liability | 254,556 | 589,576 | 31,528 | (92,064) | (313,779 |) | (288,232) | | 135,902 |
| Total OPEB liaiblity at beginning of year | 1,993,858 | 1,404,282 | 1,372,754 | 1,464,818 | 1,677,340 | | 1,965,572 | | ,829,670 |
| Total OPEB liability at end of year | \$ 2,248,414 | \$ 1,993,858 | \$ 1,404,282 | \$ 1,372,754 \$ | 1,363,561 | \$ | 1,677,340 | \$1 | ,965,572 |
| Plan fiduciary net position: | | | | | | | | | |
| Contributions – employer | \$ 91,572 | \$ 58,515 | \$ 50,243 | \$ - \$ | 117,100 | \$ | 118,216 | \$ | 38,000 |
| Net investment income | 389,277 | 423,943 | (466,460) | 413,689 | 400,655 | | (91,637) | | 245,450 |
| Benefit payments, including refunds | (151,572) | (116,515) | (138,938) | (22,304) | (40,593 |) | (24,539) | | (19,003) |
| Administrative expenses | (16,085) | (15,013) | (15,136) | (15,575) | (12,815 |) | (11,321) | | (11,207) |
| Net change in plan fiduciary net position | 313,192 | 350,930 | (570,291) | 375,810 | 464,347 | | (9,281) | | 253,240 |
| Plan fiduciary net position at beginning of year | 2,744,256 | 2,393,326 | 2,963,617 | 2,587,807 | 1,796,964 | | 1,806,245 | 1 | ,553,005 |
| Plan fiduciary net position at end of year | \$ 3,057,448 | \$ 2,744,256 | \$ 2,393,326 | \$ 2,963,617 \$ | 2,261,311 | \$ | 1,796,964 | \$1 | ,806,245 |
| Library's net OPEB liability (asset) – ending | \$ (809,034) | \$ (750,398) | \$ (989,044) | \$ (1,590,868) \$ | (897,750 |) \$ | (119,624) | \$ | 159,327 |
| Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of total OPEB liability | 136.0% | 137.6% | 170.4% | 215.9% | 165.8% | 6 | 107.1% | | 91.9% |
| Covered employee payroll | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | | n/a | | n/a |
| Library's net OPEB liability as a percent of covered employee payroll | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | | n/a | | n/a |

Other Post-Employment Healthcare Plan – VEBA Trust

Schedule of Library OPEB Contributions

| | 2024 | | 2023 | | 2022 | | 2021 | | 2020 | 2019 | 2018 | 2017 | 2016 | 2015 |
|---|----------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-----------|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|--------|
| Actuarially determined contribution Contributions in relation to the actuarially | \$ | - \$ | | - \$ | | - \$ | | - \$ | 62,723 \$ | 117,100 \$ | 118,216 \$ | 38,000 \$ | 45,000 \$ | 42,000 |
| determined contribution | | - | | - | | - | | - | 62,723 | 117,100 | 118,216 | 38,000 | 45,000 | 42,000 |
| Contributions additional | \$ | - \$ | | - \$ | | - \$ | | - \$ | - \$ | - \$ | - \$ | - \$ | - \$ | |
| Covered employee payroll | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a |
| Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a |

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 each year.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry-age normal

Salary increases 3.5% Investment rate of return (includes inflation) 6.3%

Healthcare cost trend rates:

Pre-Medicare 7.25%, gradually decreasing to 4.50% over 11 years Post-Medicare 5.75%, gradually decreasing to 4.50% over 5 years

Retirement age Age 60. Library contributes 90% of the premium for retirees with 20 years of service; Library contributes 50% of the premium for retirees with at least 10

but less than 20 years of service.

Mortality 2010 Public General Employees Healthy Retirees and Terminated Vested, IRS 2024 Adjusted Scale MP-2021